44517-4-11

No.: 87418-2

Pierce County Superior Court No. 08-2-10977-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RITH KOK, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of SAMNANG KOK, deceased; et al,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

TACOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 10, Defendant/Respondent

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Paul A. Lindenmuth, WSBA#15817

<u>paul@benbarcus.com</u>

Attorney for Plaintiffs/Appellants
Law Offices of Ben F. Barcus & Associates

4303 Ruston Way
Tacoma, WA 98402

Telephone: (253) 752-4444

I. INTRODUCTION

On January 3, 2007, Samnang Kok (Sam) was gunned down in the hallway of Foss High School, located in Tacoma, Pierce County, Washington. The perpetrator of this fatal, unprovoked attack was Douglas Chanthabouly, one of Sam's fellow students, an unfortunate sufferer of early-onset, severe, paranoid schizophrenia. The factual details of the shooting, and Mr. Chanthabouly's history within the high schools of the Tacoma School District, will be discussed in detail below, as well as the applicable legal standards. Sam's death occurred within the first 72 hours of the new year in 2007. In the year 2002, in the case of *LaVine v. Blaine School District*, 257 F.3rd 981, 987, (9th Cir. 2001), the Ninth Circuit made the following observations, which are apropos to the facts and circumstances of this case:

As we noted at the outset, we live in a time when school violence is an unfortunate reality that educators must confront on an all-too-frequent basis. The recent spat of school shootings have put our nation on edge and have focused attention on what school officials, law enforcement and others can do or could have done to prevent these kinds of tragedies. After Columbine, Thurston, Santee and other school shootings, questions have been asked about how teachers or administrators could have missed telltale "warning signs" why something was not done earlier and what should be done to prevent such tragedies from happening again.

The shooting in this case occurred some six and a half years after the *LaVine* case was published. It occurred despite the presence of numerous "warning signs" which responsible school officials should have been aware of, and in fact were aware of, given the training materials on such matters which existed within the School District's own files. This shooting occurred despite the School District's awareness of information that should have resulted in the reasonable conclusion that Douglas Chanthabouly, the shooter, suffered from a grave psychiatric disorder, (early onset paranoid schizophrenia), and posed a risk of harm to his fellow students.

"Experience shows that school can be places of 'special danger." See, *Ponce v. Socorro Independent School District*, 508 F.3d 765 (5th Cir. 2007), citing to, Alito, J., concurring, *Morse v. Frederick*, 551 U.S. 393, 127 S.Ct. 2618, 2638, 168 L.Ed.2d 290 (2007); see also, *Boim v. Fulton County School District*, 494 F.3d 978, 983-84 (11th Cir. 2007) (The phenomena of high school shootings is well recognized as historical fact).

¹ Additionally in Footnote 5 of the *Boim* opinion the Court observed "this of course, does not take into account numerous other school shootings that have occurred internationally and on college campuses, both during the relevant time period and since then, most notably the Virginia Tech massacre, in which 32 students were murdered. (Citation omitted).

It is well-established law in the State of Washington that a school district has "an enhanced and solemn duty to protect the minor students in its care." See, *Christiansen v. Royal School District No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 622, 627, 124 P.3d 283 (2005). This duty exists because our Supreme Court recognizes "the vulnerability of children in a school setting ..." *Id.*, at 70. Because of "the vulnerability of children in a school setting" our appellate courts have recognized that school districts "stand in a special relationship to the children and have a duty to protect the children." *Id.*, at 71. The solemn nature of such a duty commands that it is "nondelegable," see, *Carabba v. Anacorta School District No. 103*, 72 Wn.2d 939, 948, 435 P.2d 936 (1967).

Significantly, children have a "heightened vulnerability" in school arising from the lack of parental protection and the close proximity of students with one another which makes schools places of "special danger" to the physical safety of the students. See, *Ponce v. Socorro Independent School District*, 508 F.3d at 770. "[S]chool attendance results in the creation of essentially a captive group of persons protected only by the limited personnel of the school itself." *Id.*, at 771. This environment makes it possible for a single armed student to cause harm to his or her fellow students with little restraint and because of the difficulty in assessing such dangers it is entirely

appropriate for school district officials to act when there is any concern of a threat of an attack by one student upon another. *Id*.

In this case, as shown below all the portends of future violence were present. Given such "warning signs" and/or actual knowledge of Douglas Chanthabouly's potential towards violence, it was erroneous for the trial court in this matter to grant summary judgment in favor of the School District.

Further, as there are also additional concerns that the Trial Court, itself, who ignored Plaintiffs' evidence supporting the School District's liability for what was a foreseeable school shooting, was tainted by significant "appearance of fairness" concerns because at least some portion of her household income was dependent on the fact that her husband, and his law firm, represented the School District Defendant in this case, in a wide variety of matters. It is also noted that one of the members of her husband's law firm was the trial judge's campaign manager for her elected position.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The Trial Court erred by dismissing Plaintiffs' claims on summary judgment and denying reconsideration, when there were substantial issues of fact on the question of whether or not the Tacoma School District breached its non-delegable duty of care to Plaintiffs' decedent Samnang Kok, (Sam), who was a student within the district, by failing to protect him from

reasonably foreseeable harm from a fellow student who suffered from a severe mental illness, which made him substantially more prone to violence than the average student, given the information available to school officials within its own records, which provide clear notice that the student who shot and killed Sam suffered from a severe mental illness, which made him substantially more prone towards violent behaviors than his fellow students.

- 2. The Trial Court erred by weighing the evidence and finding as a matter of law, under summary judgment standards, that it was not reasonably foreseeable that Douglas Chanthabouly, who shot and killed Plaintiffs' Decedent in the hallway at Foss High School, would engage in such actions when District personnel possessed substantial knowledge from which a reasonable person would have concluded that Mr. Chanthabouly, due to a severe mental illness, (paranoid schizophrenia), posed a substantially greater risk of harm to his fellow students than others.
- 3. The Trial Court erred as a matter of law by weighing the evidence and finding under summary judgment standards that the actions of Douglas Chanthabouly were unforeseeable, when the law has clearly established that the specific harm which occurred does not have to be foreseeable but only that it falls within the "general field of danger" which should have been reasonably anticipated by responsible school officials.

- 4. The Trial Court erred by granting summary judgment and denying reconsideration in this case because the grant of such a motion was unsupportable under the facts and was indicative that the Trial Court had marked confusion about the scope of a school district's duty to protect the children within its care and it is rare when deciding a summary judgment motion.
- 5. The Trial Court erred by failing to vacate it summary judgment order and recuse itself at a minimum under "appearance of fairness grounds" when, after the entry of the initial summary judgment order, and during the pendency of a motion for reconsideration, it was learned that the trial judge's husband works at a law firm specializing in representing school districts, including the Tacoma School District, and that he personally held himself out as representing the Tacoma School District.

III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Did the Trial Court commit reversible error by granting

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in this case which involves a
school shooting when there were outstanding issues of material fact as to
whether or not the School District knew, or should have known, of the
dangerous propensities of the shooter who was a student, and who suffered

from paranoid schizophrenia ,which manifested itself with among other things paranoid delusions?

- 2. Did the Trial Court commit reversible error by determining as a matter of law under summary judgment standards that there was no issue of fact with respect to "foreseeability" when the student who shot Plaintiffs' Decedent by his statements and actions, and the manner in which his mental illness manifested itself exhibited a number of "warning signs" that should have put reasonable school district officials on notice that he had a potential for violence?
- 3. Should the Trial Court decision granting summary judgment be reversed and this matter be remanded for a full trial on the merits?
- 4. Did the Trial Court err by failing to grant Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration when, among other things, the grant of summary judgment in this case was contrary to the law?
- 5. Was it reversible error for the Trial Court to deny Plaintiffs' CR 60 Motion to vacate its summary judgment decision when after it was entered it was first learned by Plaintiffs' counsel that the Trial Judge's husband and his law firm conduct substantial amounts of business with the Tacoma School District, the Defendant in the case?

- 6. Did the Trial Court err by failing to vacate her summary judgment order, recuse herself and seek reassignment of this case to another judge based on conflict of interest and/or appearance of fairness principles?
- 7. Will the Appellate Court, upon reversal of the Trial Court's summary judgment order and/or its denial of Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration, remand this case with direction that it should be reassigned to a different Trial Judge?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

It was undisputed that on January 3, 2007, the date the children were returning to Foss High School following winter break, Douglas Chanthabouly, for no apparent reason, approached Sam Kok, raised a handgun to his face, made a comment, and fired a fatal gunshot wound into Sam's face, which exited the back of his head. (CP 332). After Sam had fallen to the floor, Mr. Chanthabouly inflicted two other gunshot wounds to the back of his body. (CP 333). Following the shooting, Mr. Chanthabouly walked away and left school grounds. (CP 2017). Despite extensive police investigation, no real motive can be discerned from Mr. Chanthabouly's actions towards Sam Kok. Later that day, Mr. Chanthabouly was apprehended by the police and was criminally prosecuted for his actions. In April 2009, he

was convicted of murder in the second degree. That conviction was affirmed in *State v. Chanthabouly* 164 Wn.App. 104, 262 P.3d 144 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1018, 272 P.3d 247 (2012). At the time of his death, Sam Kok was 17 years old and left behind a 3-year-old son.

After filing an Administrative Claim for Damages, on July 31, 2008, a lawsuit was filed for personal injuries, wrongful death, survival and outrage. (CP 3-12). In the Complaint, the Estate of Mr. Kok alleged that the School District was negligent because it knew, or should have known, that Mr. Chanthabouly had dangerous propensities and was a substantial risk to his fellow students who attended Foss High School. *Id.* By the time the Trial Court dismissed the action, negligence claims under the wrongful death and survival statute were being brought for the benefits of Sam's parent, and his son, by Sam's Estate.

Following the completion of most discovery, in August 2011, the School District moved for summary judgment. (CP 45-73). Hearing on the motion for summary judgment was delayed while plaintiff made efforts to take the deposition of Mr. Chanthabouly, who currently resides at Monroe Penitentiary. (CP 1652-1653), (RP 10-10-11, p. 43-44). Eventually the Court ordered Mr. Chanthabouly's cooperation and in early December his deposition was held. (CP 1862-1883). By the close of the summary judgment

pleadings, both parties had submitted hundreds of pages of documentation. (CP 311-1153; 1188-1227).

The Trial Court, the Honorable Linda C.J. Lee, heard oral argument on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 16, 2011. (RP 12-16-11, p. 46-47). In granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Judge Lee concluded that because the evidence relating to Mr. Chanthabouly's behavior while attending school in the Tacoma School District was "pre-psychotic break" and "premedication," Plaintiff failed to establish that Mr. Chanthabouly posed a foreseeable danger to his fellow students². In other words, the Trial Court concluded, in a rather counterintuitive manner, that Mr. Chanthabouly was less dangerous after he had a "psychotic break." *Id.* (CP 1909-1911).

Vehemently disagreeing with the Trial Judge's conclusion, Plaintiff, on December 27, 2011, moved for reconsideration. (CP 1960-2021; 2041-2085). While the reconsideration motion was pending for the first time it came to Plaintiffs' counsel's attention that Judge Lee's husband, Mark Hood, was a partner in a local Tacoma law firm that regularly and routinely represents school districts, including the Tacoma School District. (CP 2125;

² Despite the fact, as discussed herein, there was substantial evidence indicating that Mr. Chanthabouly continued to have delusions of persecution and by his self-reporting regularly got into fights with people he did not know. (CP 475-476) (Appendix No. 1).

2126 - 2250). After hearing such information, Plaintiffs' counsel conducted an investigation, including reviewing the judge's spouse's law firm's web site, wherein it is indicated that part of his professional practice is "school district real estate law." (CP 2135). It was found he was also listed as a member of the law firm's "school law practice group." (CP 2153). It was also learned that Mr. Hood had membership in a group called "Washington Council of School Attorneys," along with a number of his colleagues at his law firm. (CP 2162; 2156-2169). It is noted that that particular professional organization's membership is dominated by attorneys within defense counsel's law firm. Mr. Hood's law firm has the second most members. *Id.* In his listing in the 2011 "membership roster" for that group, Mr. Hood references the Tacoma School District as one of his clients. (CP 2162).

It was also found that in Judge Lee's PDC disclosures relating to her initial election to the bench in 2008, that Scott Winship, another lawyer at her husband's law firm, was her campaign manager. (CP 2145; 2178). Also, within her PDC disclosures, she revealed that the Tacoma School District was amongst the "public entity" client paying in excess of \$10,000.00 during 2007 to "Vandeberg Johnson," (her husband's law firm). (CP 2188).

Having gathered such information Plaintiff filed a Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment Order and for Recusal/disqualification of Judge. (CP

2251-2264). Within such moving papers, counsel for the Plaintiff unequivocally stated that there was "not a shred of doubt" that had such information been disclosed at the outset there would have been a request that the assigned trial judge recuse herself, and that the matter be reassigned to a different judge. (CP 2126).

On January 27, 2012, Judge Lee heard oral argument on Plaintiffs' Motion to Disqualify. She took the matter under advisement and held Plaintiffs' pending Motion for Reconsideration in abeyance. (RP 1-27-12, p. 16-18).

Several months passed and on April 26, 2012, Judge Lee issued a letter decision denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Vacate and for Recusal. (CP 2549-2552; 2553-2555).

On May 18, 2012, the Court heard Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration. (RP 5-18-12, p. 1-11). It was denied. (CP 2568-2569). This appealed followed. (CP 2572-2581).

B. Factual Background

1. Introduction

As will be shown below, the death of Sam Kok was a preventable death. In order to understand why the Plaintiff is seeking to hold the Tacoma School District responsible for this tragic death requires an understanding of

Douglas Chanthabouly's high school attendance, the history of his mental illness, and an exploration of what the Tacoma School District knew and. more importantly, should have known, with regard to Douglas Chanthabouly, who is profoundly mentally ill, and who was a clearly dangerous individual while he was attending Foss High School. The persons who had knowledge of Douglas' dangerous propensities are highly educated persons, including administrators, teachers, nurses and in particular the school psychologist. Yet, he was treated as someone with a learning disability and not a person with a dangerous mental disorder. (CP 698). Unfortunately, in order to explore such issues requires reliance on information from third parties, which otherwise should be readily available within the Tacoma School District's own records. Inexplicably, it appears that a substantial amount of Mr. Chanthabouly's files relating to his attendance, health, transfers, school nurse records, and disciplinary history within the Tacoma School District have been lost and/or destroyed. (CP 475). This, despite the fact that the Tacoma School District retained its current counsel one day after the tragic January 3, 2007 shooting, and Mr. Chathabouly had a hotly contested criminal prosecution. ³ (CP 1161).

3

Allegedly a substantial amount of Mr. Chanthabouly's records went missing in 2005, as discovered at or around the time he was being readmitted into Foss High School. However, that does not appear to be true at least with respect to some records. For example, Foss counselor, Ricky Yates, was deposed on September 22, 2011. Mr. Yates indicated that he had a number of meetings with Douglas Chanthabouly while Mr. Chanthabouly was in attendance

2. Early Warning Signs of Violent Propensities.

As best that can be determined by the records that are available from the Tacoma School District regarding Mr. Chanthabouly's attendance within the district, (without full disclosure of the obviously missing records), he initially was enrolled within the School District in September of 1993, as an elementary school student. In the Year 2000, it appears that he began attending Jason Lee Middle School, and completed middle school at that facility. (CP 347).

After completion of middle school, his attendance and behavior became extremely difficult to discern, given the unexplained absence of records from the Tacoma School District. According to the Tacoma School District's records, Mr. Chanthabouly initially began attending Foss High School in the year 2002, and thereafter transferred to Oakland Alternative High School in 2003. He attended Mount Tahoma High School in the year 2004, and, again according to the available, yet incomplete, school district records, began attending Foss High School commencing in 2005, and attended school there until January 3, 2007. (CP 347-348).

at Foss High School. Mr. Yates indicated that with respect to such meetings, he would regularly and routinely keep notes regarding such meetings but had a routine of disposing of them in roughly a two year time frame. Thus, despite the fact that Mr. Chanthabouly clearly would have been "high profile" student given his actions on January 3, 2007, it would appear that Mr. Yates destroyed his **notes after** such an event. (CP 1090-1020). Clearly Mr. Yates otherwise destroyed his notes **after** the filing of the criminal case. Such actions are, under the circumstances, inexcusable and clearly warrant suspicion.

Other records indicate that Douglas Chanthabouly began having trouble at school while attending Mt. Tahoma High School. (CP 455-457).

According to Mr. Chanthabouly's medical records:

In regards to his psychiatric history, mom relates that the patient has a history of trauma to the head approximately one year ago, which occurred at school after a gang of kids threatened him and then attacked him and hit him in the back of the head. The family did not seek medical care after this incident but did take the child out of high school at Mount Tahoma. He transferred to another school called Oakland and was there for the remainder of the year and did quite well in school. Mom stated that she decided to have him returned to Mount Tahoma High School this year, and, since then, he has been in a more depressed mood. She also relates the story of the patient going to school nurses two days ago ...

(CP 457).

Additionally other medical records provide:

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