RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 12, 2012, 8:59 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Y45-17-4-11-No. 87418-2 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

RITH KOK, as Administrator of the Estate of SAMNANG KOK, deceased; MAKAI JOHNSON-KOK, as a beneficiary of the Estate of SAMNANG KOK; RORTH KOK, individually and as a beneficiary of the Estate of SAMNANG KOK; RY SOU KOK, individually and as a beneficiary of the Estate of SAMNANG KOK, individuals

Petitioner,

٧.

TACOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 10, a municipal entity under the laws of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The Motion to Vacate was Properly Denied Because Judge Lee had No Duty to Be Aware of Her Spouse's Firm's Clients or to Disqualify/Recuse Herself from the Case.

There is no allegation of any direct connections between Judge Lee and either the defendant or defense counsel in this case. The only allegations are that (1) Judge Lee's spouse's law firm has done unrelated work for the School District; (2) that Judge Lee's spouse has done

^{31 (}Id. at 37 ("history of discipline problems").)

^{32 (}Id. ("past history of violent and aggressive behavior").)

 $^{^{33}}$ (Id. at 37-38 ("affiliations with gangs" and "is involved with a gang or anti-social group on the fringe of peer acceptance").)

³⁴ (Id. at 38 ("has been bullied and/or bullies or intimidates peers or young girls").)

³⁵ (Id. ("tends to blame others for difficulties and problems s/he causes her/himself").)

³⁶ (Id. ("is often depressed and/or has significant mood swings").)

³⁷ (CP 105-07.)

³⁸ (CP 1408.)

³⁹ (CP 1408, 1413.)

unrelated work for the School District; and that (3) someone from Judge Lee's spouse's law firm acted as her campaign manager. These types of remote, contingent, and speculative interests do not reasonably bring into question a judge's partiality. As such, Judge Lee did not abuse her discretion in denying the Motion to Vacate.

Further, prior to ruling on the Motion to Vacate, Judge Lee went to the extra effort of obtaining an opinion from the Ethics Advisory Committee for the State of Washington. Based on the specific facts of this case, the Committee opined that Judge Lee had no obligation to recuse herself from the case. Her ruling followed this opinion and should be affirmed.

B. The Motion for Summary Judgment and the Motion for Reconsideration Were Properly Decided Because Chanthabouly's Actions Were Not Foreseeable.

A school district has a duty to protect its students only from reasonably anticipated dangers. In the nearly two years from the time Chanthabouly was diagnosed with and began receiving treatment for paranoid schizophrenia to the day of the shooting, the District had absolutely no information that indicated he presented any risk to other students. The District had a legal obligation to enroll Chanthabouly in general education classes and all the evidence indicates that Chanthabouly was making academic progress at Foss while enrolled primarily in general education classes. Chanthabouly had zero disciplinary issues at Foss. His teachers reported no concerns about him. He was not in any verbal or

physical altercations. And his medical providers did not indicate that he posed any risk to those around him.

The shooting occurred on the first day back to school after a two-week break, before the start of first period. At least one teacher, an assistant principal, and the school principal passed by the location of the shooting within minutes before it happened. The teacher specifically remembers seeing Chanthabouly. None of them recall anything out of the ordinary.

Chanthabouly did not have a personal history of aggressive or violent behavior that would have alerted the school that there was a risk of him hurting another student. Nor did his behavior in the short amount of time he was at school on the morning of the shooting raise any concerns. Based on these considerations, Chanthabouly's actions were not foreseeable. Because foreseeability limits the scope of duty, the District did not have a duty to protect Kok from Chanthabouly's actions on the morning of January 3, 2007.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. Judge Lee Properly Denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Vacate and to Disqualify Her from the Case.
 - 1. The Trial Court's Decision is Reviewed Under an Abuse of Discretion Standard.

A judge's decision regarding whether to disqualify or recuse herself from a case is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Tatham v. Rogers*, 283 P.3d 583, 590 (Wn. App. 2012); *State v. Bilal*, 77 Wn. App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674 (1995). Similarly, a trial court's ruling on a motion to

vacate brought under CR 60(b) is also reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In* re Marriage of Shoemaker, 128 Wn.2d 116, 120-21, 904 P.2d 1150 (1995). As such, the entirety of the trial court's decision on Plaintiffs' Motion to Vacate is reviewed solely for abuse of discretion.

Abuse of discretion has been repeatedly explained by Washington courts as existing "only when no reasonable man would take the position adopted by the trial court." *Morgan v. Burks*, 17 Wn. App. 193, 198, 563 P.2d 1260 (1977). The trial court's decision will not be disturbed unless there is a "clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Pybas v. Paolino*, 73 Wn. App. 393, 399, 869 P.2d 427 (1994), quoting *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). In other words, the decision reached by the trial court need not be the decision that would be reached by the reviewing court – it need only be defensible.

2. Judge Lee Properly Denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Disqualify/Recuse Her from the Case.

Although Appellants note "[d]ue process, the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine, and the Code of Judicial Conduct" (the "Code") as potential grounds for requiring disqualification of a judge, ⁴⁰ they base their argument solely on appearance of fairness grounds. ⁴¹ As such, only that theory is before the Court.

⁴⁰ App. Br. at 52.

 $^{^{41}}$ See App. Br. at 52-57. Below, Appellants based their arguments on the CJC and on appearance of fairness grounds. Appellants have never argued a due process concern.

Under Washington law, there is a presumption that the trial court performs "its functions regularly and properly without bias or prejudice." West v. Wash. Ass'n of County Officials, 162 Wn. App. 120, 136, 252 P.3d 406 (2011). Thus, in order to articulate an appearance of fairness claim, the "party claiming bias or prejudice must support the claim with evidence of the trial court's actual or potential bias." Id. at 137. If sufficient evidence is presented to meet this standard, then the court considers whether the appearance of fairness doctrine was violated. State v. Garland, 282 P.3d 1137, 1150 (Wn. App. 2012). The test for determining if the appearance of fairness doctrine was violated "is whether a reasonably prudent and disinterested observer would conclude that the claimant obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral trial." Id., quoting State v. Dominguez, 81 Wn. App. 325, 330, 914 P.2d 141 (1996).

Here, Appellants concede that no actual bias is alleged. (App. Br. at 55; CP 2498.) Accordingly, they must show evidence of potential bias to even articulate an appearance of fairness claim. *West*, 162 Wn. App. at 137. In support of their allegation of potential bias, Appellants reference the following facts:

- Judge Lee's spouse's law firm, Vandeberg Johnson, represented the District in entirely separate and distinct legal matters;
- Judge Lee's spouse, a real estate attorney who practice includes government clients, represented the District on unrelated real estate matters in the past; and

• A member of Vandeberg Johnson acted as Judge Lee's campaign manager. 42

(App. Br. at 52.) On their face, none of these are significant enough issues to raise concerns of potential bias – there is no allegation of any connection between Judge Lee and defense counsel, nor is there an allegation of any connection between Vandeberg Johnson and the instant case. Moreover, even assuming they do create a potential bias, the appearance of fairness doctrine was not violated.

In support of their conclusion that the appearance of fairness doctrine was violated, Appellants rely entirely on *Tatham*. (App. Br. at 54-57.) However, *Tatham* is easily distinguished from the instant case. In *Tatham*:

- the trial court judge and plaintiff's counsel were sole partners in the same law firm;⁴³
- the plaintiff's counsel was riding with the judge when he was arrested for DUI, posted his bail, and may have acted as his personal attorney;⁴⁴
- the plaintiff's counsel was the trial court judge's campaign manager; 45
- the plaintiff's counsel contributed \$2,000 to the trial court judge's reelection campaign;⁴⁶

⁴² The fact that a member of Vandeberg Johnson acted as Judge Lee's campaign manager was not raised below, and therefore is waived on appeal. See State v. Tolias, 135 Wn.2d 133, 140, 954 P.2d 907 (1998); State v. Morgensen, 148 Wn. App. 81, 90-91, 197 P.3d 715 (2008). Further, there is no legal support for the argument that this would create an issue under the appearance of fairness doctrine. (See App. Br. at 52-57.) Surely, a trial court judge cannot be expected to be aware of all of her campaign manager's clients and to recuse herself from any cases involving them.

⁴³ Tatham, 283 P.3d at 589.

⁴⁴ *Id*.

⁴⁵ Id.

⁴⁶ Id.

- the plaintiff's counsel designated the trial court judge as her alternate attorney-in-fact on a durable power of attorney that allowed him to manage all her property if her spouse was unable to do so;⁴⁷ and
- the trial court judge appointed plaintiff's counsel as a county court commissioner. 48

In this case, to the contrary, there is no connection whatsoever alleged between defense counsel and Judge Lee. (App. Br. at 52-57.) And Appellant's assertion that "[t]he difference between this case and the *Tatham* case is only a matter of degree," is disingenuous; the "matter of degree" is exactly what is at issue when examining an appearance of fairness issue.

Appellants cite no cases in which a connection between the presiding judge's spouse's law firm and a party is sufficient to require the judge's disqualification from a case. (See App. Br. 52-56.) Further, the case law on point indicates that no disqualification is required. For example, in a case with remarkably similar facts, In re Billedeaux, 972 F.2d 104, 105 (5th Cir. 1992), the judge's spouse represented the defendant in other matters and received fees therefrom. In requesting disqualification, the plaintiff argued that the judge's "spouse is a partner in a firm that has represented [the defendant] on various occasions and that, as a result of that relationship, she and her spouse benefit from fees from that client and that, accordingly, her impartiality might reasonably be questioned." Id. at 105-106. In rejecting this argument, the court held that

⁴⁷ Id. at 589-90.

⁴⁸ *Id.* at 590.

this type of "remote, contingent, or speculative' interest is not one 'which reasonably brings into question a judge's partiality." *Id.* at 106. In other words, the appearance of fairness doctrine is not even implicated because this type of tenuous connection does not raise a question of potential bias.

Even if the appearance of fairness test were implicated, however, the court stated that the proper test is whether a "reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances,' would believe it improper for the judge to sit in the case in question." Id. Applying that test to the facts, the Billedeaux court found: "If a reasonable person knew all the relevant facts, he or she would know that any interest that could be attributed to [the judge] in the fate of her husband's law firm's sometime client is so remote and speculative as to dispel any perception of impropriety." Id. (emphasis added). The same is true in the case.

Further, Judge Lee did not take Appellant's motion lightly. Rather, before ruling, she obtained an ethics opinion addressing the issue. (See App. 3-4.) Indeed, Judge Lee specifically posed the following question to the Ethics Advisory Committee:

Does CJC 2.11(A)(2)(c) require a judicial officer to recuse in a case where the law firm of the judicial officer's attorney/spouse has represented a party, but not in the matter before the judicial officer, and the attorney/spouse has represented one of the parties in matters unrelated to the case before the judicial officer?

Id. In response, and based on the facts of this case, which were also provided, the Ethics Advisory Committee opined that there was no requirement for Judge Lee to recuse herself from this case. *Id.*

This opinion is consistent with the existing law on the subject.

According to American Jurisprudence:

Generally, a financial interest within the meaning of the disqualification statute is not shown by the fact that the judge's spouse in an attorney who occasionally represents one of the parties in the case in matters other than the instant case, and a movant must do more than allege that law firms are interested in as many clients as they can get, that the judge's spouse's firm would like to keep the defendant as a client, and that if a defendant loses the lawsuit it will take its legal business elsewhere.

32 Am. Jur. 2d Federal Courts § 102 (emphasis added). Notably, even under the facts in *Tatham*, the Court of Appeals held that only the durable power of attorney held by the trial court judge disqualified him from properly hearing the case. ⁴⁹ *Tatham*, 283 P.3d at 598. Here, where the only connection is that Judge Lee's spouse and his firm occasionally represent the District in other matters, the law is well established that no disqualification is required.

Appellants also assert that the School District is a "significant customer" of the Firm. (App. Br. at 54.) While it is not relevant to the legal analysis of this issue, it is worth noting that Appellants provide no

 $^{^{49}}$ The court held that other aspects of their relationship should have been disclosed, but did not require the judge's disqualification. *Id.* at *38.

support for this statement. In fact, Judge Lee's disclosures to the Public Disclosure Commission indicate that the District was merely one of 14 public entities in 2007 and 16 public entities in 2008 that paid more than \$10,000 in legal fees to Vandeberg Johnson. (CP 2187-88; 2207-08.) The disclosures do not identify the private persons or entities the law firm represents, nor the amount of fees paid by them. As such, there is no evidence in the record under which one could conclude that the District is a "significant customer" of Vandeberg Johnson.

Here, as in *Turngren v. King County*, 33 Wn. App. 78, 86-87, 649 P.2d 153 (1982), the record "demonstrates without question that the judge's previous decision had not been based on any bias, prejudice or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts, but rather was based on [her] evaluation that the record was without any issue of material fact." Judge Lee's denial of the Appellants' request that she disqualify or recuse herself from the case was in accordance with established law and was not an abuse of discretion. As such, the trial court's decision should be upheld.

3. The Trial Court Properly Denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Vacate its Summary Judgment Ruling.

Appellants' motion to vacate the summary judgment ruling, including its motion to disqualify Judge Lee, was based on CR 60. (CP 2251-2264.) Although Appellants do not specify the subsection of CR 60 – either on appeal or below – they appear to have based their motion on CR 60(b)(1), maintaining the trial court's decision should be vacated

based on "irregularities." (CP 2264.) The only "irregularity" alleged is Judge Lee's failure to disqualify or recuse herself from this case. As such, because Judge Lee did not abuse her discretion in failing to disqualify or recuse herself from this case, she did not abuse her discretion in declining to vacate her ruling on summary judgment. As such, the trial court ruling denying the Motion to Vacate should likewise be affirmed.

- B. Summary Judgment was Appropriate in this Case Where Chanthabouly's Actions Were Not Foreseeable.
 - 1. The Trial Court's Order Granting the School District's Motion for Summary Judgment is Reviewed De Novo.

A trial court's order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 69, 170 P.3d 10 (2007). Summary judgment avoids the time and expense of a useless trial on issues that cannot be factually supported or, if factually supported, cannot lead to an outcome favorable to the non-moving party as a matter of law. Burris v. General Ins. Co. of Am., 16 Wn. App. 73, 75, 553 P.2d 125 (1976). Summary judgment is proper where the pleadings and evidence on file show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. at 70. See also CR 56.

Summary judgment is appropriate when reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion from the evidence presented. *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). A defendant is entitled to summary judgment when there is an absence of

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